
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
CORY GROSHEK,  
  and all others similarly situated,  
 
  Plaintiff,        Case No. 15-cv-157-RTR 
 
v.   
 
TIME WARNER CABLE INC.,  
   
  Defendant.   
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

DEFENDANT’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF 

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION  

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This case should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because Plaintiff Cory 

Groshek (“Groshek”) lacks Article III standing to pursue his claims.  In Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, the 

Supreme Court held that “Article III standing requires a concrete injury even in the context of a 

statutory violation.”  Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, --- S. Ct. ----, No. 13-1339, 2016 WL 2842447, at *7 

(U.S. May 16, 2016).  Accordingly, a plaintiff “cannot satisfy the demands of Article III by 

alleging a bare procedural violation” of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”).  Id. at *8.  Yet, 

that is exactly what Groshek has attempted to do here.  Indeed, Groshek expressly admits that his 

claims against Defendant Time Warner Cable Inc. (“TWCI”) are premised on bare procedural 

violations of the FCRA and that he has not suffered any actual or concrete harm.  These are the 

exact circumstances discussed in Spokeo where a plaintiff lacks standing, and this action should 

therefore be dismissed forthwith.   

 In fact, Groshek presents the strongest possible case for dismissal under the standards set 

forth in Spokeo, as he knowingly and intentionally caused the bare procedural violation of which 
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he now complains.  Indeed, Groshek is a professional plaintiff who admits to running a FCRA 

claims “business.”  His scheme is to apply for scores of jobs simply to cause the prospective 

employers to run a background check on him.  If Groshek believes a prospective employer’s FCRA 

disclosures are imperfect, he then issues a demand letter seeking to be paid tens, and sometimes 

hundreds, of thousands of dollars in order to avoid litigation.  If the target fails to comply with his 

demand, Groshek then files a lawsuit based on that alleged bare procedural violation of the FCRA.  

At least until last week’s ruling in Spokeo, this has been a very successful business for Groshek, 

as he applied for 562 jobs over an 18-month period and secured more than $230,000 in individual 

FCRA settlements between November 2014 and the fall of 2015 alone.   

In short, Groshek not only predicates his standing on a “bare procedural violation” of the 

FCRA, it is a procedural violation he intentionally manufactured.  To permit Groshek to continue 

to pursue this action in light of Spokeo would render the Supreme Court’s pronouncements in that 

case virtually meaningless.  Accordingly, for the reasons more fully set forth below, TWCI 

respectfully moves this Court for an order dismissing this case pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 12(b)(1) based on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction.    

II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

A. Groshek’s FCRA Claims “Business.” 

At his deposition, Groshek admitted that he has made a “business” out of applying for 

countless jobs and then threatening prospective employers with class action FCRA lawsuits unless 

they agreed to pay him an individual settlement that far exceeds his maximum possible recovery 

under the FCRA.  (Deposition of C. Groshek (“Dep.”) at 152:14–19, 308:7–309:13.)1  To that end, 

                                                 
1  True and correct copies of the exhibit and transcript excerpts from Groshek’s deposition that 
are cited herein are attached as Exhibit 1 to the Declaration of Anthony E. Giardino (“Giardino 
Decl.”), which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
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during the 18-month period from January 16, 2014 to July 29, 2015, Groshek applied for 562 jobs 

(an average of one per day, including weekends and holidays).  (Id. at 208:1–21.)  As for running 

his FCRA claims business, Groshek admitted that: 

 He discovered the potential to bring FCRA claims after talking to an attorney in February 
2014, and educated himself on the requirements of the FCRA after consulting with counsel 
at that time.  (Id. at 90:1–10, 92:20–22.) 

 Since February 2014, he has studied FCRA news and legal updates to stay abreast of the 
FCRA and legal developments related to it, and regularly researches and accesses 
information regarding FCRA cases, settlements, and class notices for FCRA class action 
settlements.  (Id. at 92:13–19, 93:5–19.) 

 After meeting with counsel and educating himself on the FCRA in February 2014, he began 
applying for jobs on an average of one per day.  (Id. at 228:23–231:8.) 

 He used online job websites to apply for jobs, including indeed.com and careerbuilder.com.  
(Id. at 207:9–13.) 

 When applying for jobs, based on his knowledge of the FCRA, he knows when looking at a 
background check disclosure form whether that form is compliant with the FCRA.  (Id. at 
129:21–130:13.) 

 Groshek proceeds with the application process for companies whose forms he believes 
violate the FCRA.  (E.g., id. at 130:2–13, 196:2–24.) 

 Groshek knowingly causes the purported FCRA procedural violation to be committed by 
proceeding through the application process to the point where a consumer report is obtained 
on him—usually upon his accepting a conditional offer of employment (which generally 
triggers a background check to be conducted and FCRA liability to attach).  (Id. at 196:2–
24, 234:9–24.) 

 He takes screenshots of disclosure forms when applying for job positions to help him prove 
there are FCRA violations in the forms he completed.  (Id. at 141:2–12.) 

 Because he knows that there can be no liability under the FCRA until a background check is 
actually performed by the consumer reporting agency, he regularly obtains reports from 
consumer reporting agencies to determine whether liability has been triggered by his 
prospective employers.  (Id. at 128:5–129:20, 272:5–16.) 

 After confirming that the prospective employer had a background check run on him, Groshek 
then either fails to show up for his first day of work or works for a short period of time until 
voluntarily resigning.  (Id. at 232:18–233:20, 234:9–235:2.) 

 After deciding not to show up for the first day of work, or resigning from his position after a 
short period of time, Groshek sends these companies threatening letters and emails 
demanding payment of a large individual settlement to avoid his obtaining counsel and 
initiating a FCRA class action lawsuit.  (Id. at 196:2–24, 234:9–238:11, 254:9–257:16, Ex. 
13.) 
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Pursuant to this modus operandi, in just the past two years, Groshek has threatened nearly 

50 companies with lawsuits after applying for jobs, accepting job offers, and causing background 

checks to be run by those prospective employers, including: 

 Advance America 

 AIG (Travel Guard 
International) 

 Alliance Hospitality 
Management 

 Alta Resources 

 Ardor Agency LLC 

 Associated Bank 

 Baxalta (BioLife Plasma 
Services) 

 Bay Event Marketing 

 Burlington Coat Factory 

 Convergys 

 Eastbay (Foot Locker) 

 Expert Global Solutions 
(a.k.a. APAC)  

 Family Video 

 Goodwill Industries 

 Great Lakes Higher 
Education Corp. 

 Harbor Freight Tools 

 hhgregg, inc. 

 Humana 

 ImproMed, LLC 

 Lands End 

 Mind Your Business Inc. 

 Ministry Healthcare / 
Network Health 

 Nielsen  

 Office Depot (Office Max) 

 Pawn America (PAL 
Management) 

 Pitney Bowes 

 PLS Financial 

 Servicemaster (TruGreen) 

 Sherwin-Williams 

 Shopko 

 Starbucks 

 Sterling Infosystems 

 Target Corp. 

 Total Med Staffing 

 The Store (Team Schierl 
Companies) 

 Toys R’ Us 

 Tundra Lodge 

 U.S. Cellular 

 Verifications, Inc. 

 Veterans Sourcing Group 

 West Corporation 

 Wisconsin Auto Title 
Loans 

 Yanda’s Distributing 

   
(Giardino Decl. ¶ 4; Dep. at 235:17–238:11, 254:9–257:16.)  

At least 20 of the above-listed companies paid Groshek individual settlements ranging from 

$500 to $35,000 to avoid litigation.  (Giardino Decl. ¶ 5; Dep. at 263:11–18.)  Indeed, during the 

period between November 2014 and the fall of 2015 alone, Groshek secured more than $230,000 

in individual FCRA settlements based on his FCRA claims business.  (Dep. at 242:11–21.) 

B. Groshek’s Application for Employment and Background Check Authorization Form. 

On or about September 22, 2014—after working with counsel over the prior seven months 

regarding how to assert FCRA claims against prospective employers—Groshek applied for a job 

with TWCI.  (Compl. ¶ 11; Dep. at 69:20–22, 88:1–21, 90:1–10, 92:13–22, 93:5–19, 94:16–95:5.)  

On September 24, 2014, Groshek went through TWCI’s online onboarding process after receiving 

a conditional offer of employment.  (Compl. ¶¶ 12–16, Exs. A & B to Compl.)  As part of that 
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process, he was required to review the background check authorization form that constitutes the 

basis of his class action lawsuit.  (Id.)  At the time he reviewed TWCI’s FCRA background check 

authorization form, Groshek believed that the form did not comply with the FCRA’s requirements 

because it contained a third-party release of liability provision.  (Dep. at 120:9–15.)  Despite his 

belief that TWCI’s background check authorization form did not comply with the FCRA based on 

the inclusion of a third-party release, Groshek signed the form and authorized TWCI to request a 

background check on him.  (Compl. ¶¶ 14–18, Exs. A & B to Compl.)  At the time he signed the 

form, Groshek also made copies of his onboarding documentation to use in this FCRA lawsuit.  

(Dep. at 141:2–12.)   

Groshek’s conditional offer of employment became final after his background check was 

completed and he was hired by TWCI.  (Id. at 97:15–18, 234:1–5.)  Groshek subsequently worked 

for TWCI for just three months, from October 24, 2014 to January 28, 2015, when he voluntarily 

resigned his position.  (Id. at 81:19–22, 222:15–18.) 

On January 30, 2015, consistent with his modus operandi of contacting other employers 

after applying for, or soon after leaving, a job, Groshek sent TWCI a demand letter entitled 

“URGENT: TWCI Violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) / Immediate settlement 

negotiation requested under threat of Class Action litigation.”  (Dep. at 81:23–82:3, 151:1–17, Ex. 

13.)  In this letter, Groshek used the threat of litigation to demand a “high six figure” settlement 

award or face the threat of a class action lawsuit based on alleged FCRA violations.2  (Ex. 13 to 

                                                 
2  Groshek’s demand letter to TWCI stated: 

TWCI can either pay me a high six figure settlement to make this issue disappear 
now, or it can pay seven or eight figures to settle it later (and I know, for a fact, 
that TWCI will settle at some point, as all companies do in cases such as this). 
The choice is TWCI’s – either pay me, or pay a minimum of $1000.00 to 
everyone affected by its FCRA violations over the last five years                                                            
plus punitive damages and reasonable attorney’s fees. 
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Dep.)  One week later, when TWCI refused to accede to his demands, Groshek initiated this 

lawsuit.  (Compl. at 1.)   

C. Groshek’s Allegations. 

On February 6, 2015, Groshek filed the instant putative class action asserting a single cause 

of action for a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A) and seeking statutory and punitive damages, 

injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a).  Specifically, Groshek alleges 

that TWCI willfully violated “15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) by procuring a consumer report on 

[him] for employment purposes without first providing [him] a clear and conspicuous written 

disclosure, in a document consisting solely of the disclosure, that a consumer report may be 

obtained for employment purposes.”  (Compl. ¶ 22.)  Groshek further alleges that: (1) the written 

disclosure was not “clear and conspicuous” because it was “buried” in an employment application; 

and (2) the disclosure was not in a document consisting “solely of the disclosure” because it 

included a “waiver of liability for Time Warner.”  (Id. ¶¶ 41–43.)    

Groshek has not alleged that he or any putative class members suffered any actual damages 

or anything other than a bare procedural violation.  (Compl. passim.)  Indeed, Groshek admitted 

at his deposition that his claims are premised exclusively on a technical violation of the FCRA that 

could only entitle him to statutory damages and that he does not intend to assert any other claims.  

(Dep. at 113:1–115:17.)   

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Applicable Standard for a Rule 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing. 

Standing is a prerequisite for subject matter jurisdiction and the plaintiff bears the burden 

of establishing standing when challenged under a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss.  See Apex 

Digital, Inc. v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 572 F.3d 440, 443 (7th Cir. 2009) (“As a jurisdictional 

requirement, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing standing”) (citation omitted); Silha v. 
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ACT, Inc., 807 F.3d 169, 172–73 (7th Cir. 2015) (recognizing that defendant may mount facial and 

factual challenges to standing).  To survive a facial challenge to standing, a plaintiff must have 

“‘clearly . . . alleged facts demonstrating’ each element [of standing].”  See Spokeo, 2016 WL 

2842447, at *5 (quoting Warth, 422 U.S. at 518).3   

Further, a party may also challenge standing with facts that do not appear on the face of 

the complaint.  In determining whether standing exists as a factual matter, a court “may look 

beyond the jurisdictional allegations of the complaint and view whatever evidence has been 

submitted on the issue.”  Wiesmueller v. Nettesheim, No. 14-C-1384, 2015 WL 3872297, at *1 

(E.D. Wis. June 23, 2015) (Randa, J.) (quotation omitted).4  “If the court determines at any time 

that it lacks subject-matter jurisdiction, the court must dismiss the action.”  Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 

12(h)(3); see also Am. Fed’n of Gov’t Emps., Local 2119 v. Cohen, 171 F.3d 460, 465 (7th Cir. 

1999) (“if a plaintiff cannot establish standing to sue, relief from this court is not possible, and 

dismissal under [Rule] 12(b)(1) is the appropriate disposition”).   

As discussed above and as further shown below, this action must be dismissed because 

Groshek cannot meet his burden to show that he has Article III standing here, as: (1) he alleges 

nothing more than a bare procedural violation of the FCRA and suffered no cognizable harm of 

                                                 
3  Because the court does not have jurisdiction to enter a “judgment” if the plaintiff does not have 
standing, “[a] motion attacking subject matter jurisdiction is properly brought as one to dismiss 
the case under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1), rather than as a motion for summary 
judgment.”  See Rittmeyer v. Advance Bancorp, Inc., 868 F. Supp. 1017, 1021 (N.D. Ill. 1994); 
see also Disability Rights, 2007 WL 805796, at *1 n.2 (“the issue of standing is a question of 
jurisdiction properly brought under Rule 12(b)(1)”); Lockheed Martin Corp. v. United States, 50 
Fed. Cl. 550, 552 (Fed. Cl. 2001) (treating motion for summary judgment as Rule 
12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because Rule 56 motion is 
inappropriate for challenging subject matter jurisdiction). 

4  Pursuant to Local Rule 7(j), the Wiesmueller order is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
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any kind; and, alternatively (2) even absent Spokeo, Groshek would lack standing because he has 

manufactured the alleged FCRA violation of which he complains.       

B. The “Irreducible Constitutional Minimum” of Standing Requires More than a Bare 

Procedural Violation of the FCRA.  

As the Supreme Court recently stated in Spokeo: 
 

Our cases have established that the “irreducible constitutional minimum” of 
standing consists of three elements.  Lujan, 504 U.S., at 560.  The plaintiff 
must have (1) suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the 
challenged conduct of the defendant, and (3) that is likely to be redressed by a 
favorable judicial decision.  Id., at 560–561; Friends of the Earth, Inc., 528 
U.S., at 180–181.  The plaintiff, as the party invoking federal jurisdiction, bears 
the burden of establishing these elements.  FW/PBS, Inc. v. Dallas, 493 U.S. 
215, 231, 110 S. Ct. 596, 107 L. Ed. 2d 603 (1990).  

 
Spokeo, 2016 WL 2842447, at *5. 

“[T]he injury-in-fact requirement requires a plaintiff to allege an injury that is both 

‘concrete and particularized’” and “‘actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.’”  Id. at 

*3, *6 (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992)); accord Pollack v. U.S. 

Dep't of Justice, 577 F.3d 736, 738–39 (7th Cir. 2009).  For an injury to be “particularized,” it 

“must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.”  Spokeo, 2016 WL 2842447, at *6 

(citing cases).  Likewise,  

A “concrete” injury must be “de facto”; that is, it must actually exist.  See 
Black’s Law Dictionary 479 (9th ed. 2009).  When we have used the adjective 
“concrete,” we have meant to convey the usual meaning of the term — “real,” 
and not “abstract.”  Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 472 
(1971); Random House Dictionary of the English Language 305 (1967).  
Concreteness, therefore, is quite different from particularization. 

 
Id. at *7 (emphasis added). 
 

Accordingly, a plaintiff cannot “satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement of Article III” by 

“alleging a bare procedural violation” of a statute.  Id. at *7–8.  Rather, “Article III standing 

requires a concrete injury even in the context of a statutory violation.”  Id. at *7 (emphasis 
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added); accord Disability Rights WI, Inc. v. Walworth Co. Bd. of Sup’rs, No. 06-C-813, 2007 WL 

805796, at *2 (E.D. Wis. Mar. 14, 2007) (Randa, J.) (“Without an allegation of a concrete injury, 

there can be no confidence of ‘a real need to exercise the power of judicial review’ or that relief 

can be framed ‘no [broader] than required by the precise facts to which the court's ruling would be 

applied.’”) (quoting Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 508 (1975)).5  In Spokeo, the Supreme Court 

provided specific examples of allegations that constitute “bare procedural violations” that are 

insufficient to “work any concrete harm,” including a failure to list accurate zip code information, 

or a failure to provide a required statutory notice (like an FCRA disclosure form, as Groshek claims 

here).  Spokeo, 2016 WL 2842447, at *8.  

C. Groshek Fails to Allege a Sufficient Injury-in-Fact in His Complaint. 

Given Spokeo, the allegations in Groshek’s Complaint are insufficient to establish standing 

as a matter of law.  That is, as Spokeo has made explicitly clear, a plaintiff may “not . . . allege a 

bare procedural violation, divorced from any concrete harm, and satisfy the injury-in-fact 

requirement of Article III.”  Id. at *7.   

Here, there is no allegation whatsoever of any actual harm or of a concrete injury in 

Groshek’s Complaint.  The only well-pled factual allegation is that a bare procedural violation of 

the FCRA occurred based on TWCI’s alleged failure to comply with the technical requirements 

pertaining to disclosure forms.  Thus, this is the classic example in Spokeo of a “bare procedural 

violation” allegation being insufficient to support standing, and this litigation should be dismissed 

based on Groshek’s pleading deficiencies alone.  Spokeo, 2016 WL 2842447, at *5 (quoting Warth, 

422 U.S. at 518) (“Where, as here, a case is at the pleading stage, the plaintiff must ‘clearly . . . 

                                                 
5  Pursuant to Local Rule 7(j), the Disability Rights order is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
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allege facts demonstrating’ each element [of standing].”); Silha, 807 F.3d at 174–75 (plaintiff must 

allege personal loss to support finding injury in fact).     

D. Groshek’s Admissions Confirm the Lack of Any Concrete Injury. 

Going beyond Groshek’s insufficient allegations of standing in his Complaint, his 

admissions also make it abundantly clear that he cannot meet his burden to establish standing in 

this case.  Specifically, Groshek admits that he has suffered no actual or concrete harm whatsoever, 

and instead freely admits that his case rests upon a technical violation of the FCRA’s disclosure 

form requirements.  (Dep. at 113:1–115:17.)  This admission is exactly the type of “bare procedural 

violation” of the FCRA that the Supreme Court held insufficient to confer standing.  See Spokeo, 

2016 WL 2842447, at *6–8 (citing failure to provide disclosure form as example of statutory 

procedural violation that does not “work any concrete harm” and holding that plaintiff “cannot 

satisfy the demands of Article III by alleging a bare procedural violation” of FCRA).   

Additionally, any hypothetical suggestion that Groshek suffered harm based on an 

allegedly defective disclosure form would be directly contrary to Groshek’s admissions that he 

suffered no harm beyond a bare procedural violation of the FCRA.  Id. at *6.  Indeed, underscoring 

the complete absence of any concrete injury, Groshek admitted that: (1) he fully understood the 

terms of the background disclosure form at issue in his Complaint when he viewed it (including 

the inclusion of waiver language and its alleged violation of the technical requirements of the 

FCRA); (2) he suffered no actual harm or detriment besides being subject to a bare procedural 

violation; and, (3) any alleged violations of the FCRA did not adversely affect him or his 

employment with TWCI.6  See Silha, 807 F.3d at 174–75, 175 n.2 (no standing where plaintiff 

“would have been no better off had the defendant refrained from the unlawful acts of which the 

                                                 
6  Dep. at 103:14–104:5, 106:12–20, 113:1–19, 115:5–17, 129:21–130:13. 
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plaintiff is complaining”).  Accordingly, per Spokeo and the law of the Seventh Circuit, this case 

should be dismissed because the “bare procedural violation” of the FCRA’s disclosure form 

requirements complained of by Groshek did not result in concrete harm as a matter of law, and 

Groshek thus lacks Article III standing.        

E. Groshek Has Not Suffered a Particularized Injury. 

Groshek also never suffered a particularized injury.  Specifically, the inclusion of third-

party waiver language in the disclosure form did not affect Groshek “in a personal and 

individualized way.”  Spokeo, 2016 WL 2842447, at *6 (“For an injury to be ‘particularized,’ it 

‘must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.’”) (citation omitted).  Indeed, Groshek 

admits the alleged defect in the disclosure form did not affect him at all.  He was not confused, he 

understood the form (and the requirements of the FCRA) when he viewed it, and he knowingly 

proceeded with the application process despite his belief that the form violated the FCRA.  (Dep. 

at 120:9–15, 129:21–130:13, 141:2–12.)  Further, Groshek went on to receive an offer of 

employment and his application was not delayed or otherwise affected in any way whatsoever by 

the contents of the disclosure form.  Accordingly, Groshek’s deposition admissions completely 

defeat any notion that he suffered a particularized, “personal injury” as is required under Spokeo 

to establish standing.   

F. Groshek Lacks Standing Because He Manufactured the Alleged Violation at Issue. 

Finally, even in the absence of Spokeo, dismissal would be appropriate because it is black-

letter law that a plaintiff cannot establish standing by manufacturing an injury through his own 

conduct.  Clapper v. Amnesty Int’l USA, 133 S. Ct. 1138, 1151 (2013) (parties “cannot manufacture 

standing merely by inflicting harm on themselves”); see also Pennsylvania v. New Jersey, 426 

U.S. 660, 664 (1976) (“No [party] can be heard to complain about damage inflicted by its own 

hand.”); Swann v. Sec’y, Georgia, 668 F.3d 1285, 1288 (11th Cir. 2012) (“a controversy is not 
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justiciable when a plaintiff independently caused his own injury”); Freedom From Religion 

Found., Inc. v. Obama, 641 F.3d 803, 806 (7th Cir. 2011) (“No one is injured by a request that can 

be declined.”); Parvati Corp. v. City of Oak Forest, Ill., 630 F.3d 512, 514, 518 (7th Cir. 2010) 

(self-inflicted injuries caused by parties’ own choices insufficient to establish standing); Petro–

Chem Processing, Inc. v. EPA, 866 F.2d 433, 438 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (self-inflicted injuries 

insufficient to confer standing due to lack of causation of harm by defendant); Ass’n of Am. 

Physicians & Surgeons, Inc. v. Koskinen, No. 13-C-1214, 2014 WL 1056495, at *7 (E.D. Wis. 

Mar. 18, 2014) aff’d sub nom. Ass’n of Am. Physicians & Surgeons, Inc. v. Koskinen, 768 F.3d 

640 (7th Cir. 2014) (voluntary choices contributing to one’s own injury insufficient to establish 

standing, must show concrete injury caused by defendant’s actions).7 

As discussed above, Groshek knowingly and intentionally created the alleged procedural 

FCRA violation of which he complains here.  Groshek knew exactly what the FCRA requirements 

were regarding background check authorization forms when he applied for employment with 

TWCI and reviewed TWCI’s forms, he was not confused or misled by them in any way, but 

concluded that they did not comply with the FCRA.  He then proceeded with TWCI’s application 

process for the express purpose of setting himself up to assert an FCRA claim against TWCI—

which he has now done.  Accordingly, based on the aforementioned line of authority, Groshek 

lacks standing to assert any FCRA claims against TWCI and this action should be dismissed on 

this independent ground, even if Spokeo did not already require dismissal (and it does).   

                                                 
7  Pursuant to Local Rule 7(j), the Koskinen order is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, TWCI respectfully requests the Court dismiss this 

action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) based on a lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction.   

Dated this 27th day of May, 2016. 
 

       Respectfully submitted,  
 

 s/ Anthony E. Giardino    
Joseph W. Ozmer II  
Anthony E. Giardino 
KABAT CHAPMAN & OZMER LLP 

171 17th Street NW, Suite 1550 
Atlanta, Georgia 30363 
Telephone: (470) 447-0600 
Facsimile: (470) 447-0615 
jozmer@kcozlaw.com  
agiardino@kcozlaw.com    
 
Emery K. Harlan  
MWH Law Group LLP 

111 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1000 
Milwaukee, WI 53202 
Tel: (414) 463-0353 
Fax: (414) 463-0354 
emery.harlan@mwhlawgroup.com  
 
Attorneys for Defendant Time Warner Cable, Inc.  
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